# FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 3/22/2019 2:28 PM

No. 96983-3 Court of Appeals No. 50228-3-II

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GEORGE KARL, REBECCA ANN, and a class of similarly situated individuals,,

Petitioners/Appellants,

V.

CITY OF BREMERTON,

Respondent.

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

BENDICH STOBAUGH & STRONG, P.C. Alexander F. Strong, WSBA No. 49839 David F. Stobaugh, WSBA No. 6376 Stephen K. Strong, WSBA No. 6299 126 NW Canal St, Suite 100 Seattle WA 98107 (206) 622-3536

Attorneys for Petitioners

#

#### I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONERS

Plaintiffs George Karl and Rebecca Ann, and a certified class of over 1,000 individuals (the "Drivers") who were fined by the Defendant City of Bremerton, ask this Court to accept review.

# II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its decision barring any original action in superior court challenging the City of Bremerton's unlawful fines on February 20, 2019. A copy of that decision is attached.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should this Court review the trial court's ruling that the City may, without authority under state law, use private for-profit contractors to issue tickets because it is an issue of substantial public importance where (1) the Supreme Court Commissioner ruled earlier in this action that this issue is one of "potential statewide significance," (2) jurisdictions in Washington and across the U.S. are increasingly privatizing various law enforcement functions and (3) the Washington Legislature and Attorney General have repeatedly weighed in on law enforcement agencies' contracting authority?
- 2. Should this Court review the Court of Appeals' decision that the Drivers cannot bring an original action in superior court challenging the legality of the fines issued to them by the City of Bremerton, but are

restricted to litigating municipal court infraction cases, when (1) the decision conflicts with the Constitution which grants superior courts original jurisdiction over actions involving the legality of a municipal fine, (2) hundreds of thousands of individuals receive municipal traffic fines each year, and (3) under the decision no one could ever obtain declaratory, injunctive, or incidental monetary relief?

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a certified class action filed in Kitsap County Superior Court challenging the legality of parking fines. CP 640-41. The Drivers challenged the City's contracting out to a private company the law enforcement function of issuing parking tickets, without statutory authority. CP 291-92. The Drivers also challenged the City's authority to impose traffic fines based on no-parking signs that did not comply with uniform state law standards governing such signs. CP 156-67.

The trial court granted the Drivers' motion for summary judgment, ruling that the City's blue no-parking signs violate state law. CP 634.

Later, despite that ruling in the Drivers' favor and despite previously acknowledging that the municipal court has no jurisdiction over classwide declaratory, injunctive, or restitution claims based on state law, VRP 06-04-16 at 5-7, 9, the trial court dismissed the Drivers' claim, saying they can only file individual motions to vacate in municipal court. CP 619.

Before dismissing the challenge to fines based on the unlawful noparking signs, the trial court ruled on the merits of the Drivers' separate claim that private Imperial Parking employees have no authority to conduct traffic enforcement and issue tickets under state law. CP 630-34. The Legislature authorizes only "law enforcement officers" to issue traffic tickets, including parking tickets, and Imperial Parking employees are not "law enforcement officers" under those statutes. CP 301-10. The trial court agreed with the Drivers that only a "law enforcement officer" can issue tickets. CP 630-34. However, the trial court ruled that Imperial Parking employees "could be considered" law enforcement officers because the City had, by ordinance, authorized the police chief to contract out parking enforcement. CP 633.

The trial court dismissed the action. CP 609. The Drivers appealed. CP 612; CP 649. The Court of Appeals ruled on February 20, 2019. It did not rule on other issues raised by the City.<sup>1</sup>

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard for Accepting Review.

Under RAP 13.4, this Court will review cases that involve "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The city contended the blue no-parking sign claim was barred by res judicata, although the trial court did not agree, except for a minor part that is not at issue here. VRP 06-04-16 at 5-7, 9; RB 6-15. The Court of Appeals did not address res judicata or the City's argument on class certification. CoA Dec. at 9 n.4, 12 n.6.

Supreme Court," that involve "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington," or are "in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court." The Court of Appeals' decision should be reviewed because it involves issues of substantial public interest, important questions of superior court jurisdiction under the Washington Constitution, and conflicts with decisions of this Court.

B. Whether a City, by Ordinance, Can Authorize Itself to Contract Out Law Enforcement Regardless of State Law Is an Issue of Broad Public Importance.

In considering an earlier motion to transfer in this case, the Supreme Court Commissioner ruled that the issue of "a municipality's authority to contract out parking enforcement services" raised here is an issue of "potential statewide significance." Ruling at 3, No. 95934-0. At the time the Commissioner denied transfer because he did not find the issue to be "so urgent that it now requires this Court to address it" immediately and the "Court of Appeals is more than capable of deciding this issue in the first instance." *Id* at 4. While the Commissioner found that this appeal did not meet the urgency requirement for immediate review under RAP 4.2(a)(4), urgency is not a consideration for accepting review of this petition under RAP 13.4(b).

The Commissioner stated that "whether a law enforcement agency, by way of a municipal ordinance, may contract with a private entity for the limited law enforcement purpose of parking enforcement seems debatable and is an apparent issue of first impression." Ruling at 3. Moreover, the trial court also stated this case presents issues of first impression and stated that it is important "for a higher court to really give us some direction on these issues, because we don't have any Washington State cases directly on these issues." VRP 02/06/17 at 47. The trial court also said that its decisions are "perfectly ripe" for appellate review. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals, rather than ruling on this important issue and despite the fact that the trial court decided this contracting-out issue on the merits, CP 634, ruled that the Drivers can never raise a challenge to the legality of the City's fines in the superior court. CoA Dec. at 7-9.

The record shows that the City of Bremerton contracted out its police department parking enforcement to a private company, Imperial Parking. CP 259-64, 321-22, 346. The City's parking tickets issued by for-profit private contractors violate state statutes because the law enforcement function of issuing parking infractions must be performed by a "law enforcement officer." RCW Ch. 46.63.<sup>2</sup> Further, the State explicitly restricts law enforcement agencies to contracting only with other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Legislature provided that "a *law enforcement officer has the authority to issue a notice of traffic infraction.*" RCW 46.63.030(1) (emphasis added). And any law enforcement not performed in accordance with RCW 46.63.030 is "invalid and of no effect." RCW 46.08.020. Parking citations issued by people who are not law enforcement officers are thus "invalid and of no effect." *Id.* 

law enforcement agencies. RCW 10.93.130 ("Contracting Authority of Law Enforcement Agencies").<sup>3</sup> Finally, the Drivers argued that the City's privatization of traffic enforcement violates other statutes on City law enforcement personnel. See *Teamsters Local 760 v. City of Moses Lake*, 70 Wn. App. 404, 407, 853 P.2d 951 (1993), citing RCW 41.12.050; *Wash. Fed'n of State Employees v. Spokane Cmty. Coll.*, 90 Wn.2d 698, 702-03, 585 P.2d 474 (1978).

The trial court's ruling that Bremerton can, by ordinance alone, authorize law enforcement to be contracted out to private companies has no limit. This would allow any municipality to employ private contractors to perform any manner of enforcement functions without regard to state statutory limitations. For example, one out-of-state jurisdiction granted limited police commissions to the Koch brothers' security force and another granted full police powers to a church's security team. Motion to Transfer at 7-8; see generally Boghosian, Heidi, *Applying Restraints to Private Police*, 70 Missouri Law Rev. 1, 9 (2005) (collecting laws and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> By specifically providing Bremerton and other cities limited authority to contract with other law enforcement agencies for law enforcement functions, the Legislature prohibited any other contracts. *Landmark Development, Inc. v. City of Roy*, 138 Wn.2d 561, 571, 980 P.2d 1234 (1999). In *Landmark* this Court explained that under expressio unius est exclusio alterius, a canon of statutory construction, "the expression of one is the exclusion of others." *Id.* Therefore, where a statute specifically designates the things or classes of things upon which the statute operates, the legislature is deemed to have "intentionally omitted" the things or classes that are not included. *Id.*; *In re Det. Of Williams*, 147 Wn.2d 476, 491, 55 P.3d 597 (2002).

practices regarding privatization of law enforcement functions).

In California, the Attorney General considered, and rejected, a city's proposal to contract out parking enforcement in the same manner that Bremerton and other cities in Washington do. 85 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 83, 2002 WL 726359 (2002). Applying the rule that law enforcement officers must be public employees, the Attorney General concluded that the City was not authorized to contract out parking enforcement without specific statutory authority because "it is for the Legislature to determine whether a city should be allowed to use private employees to issue parking citations, just as it has considered (and granted) the authority of a city to contract" out the processing of parking fines. *Id.* at \*3.

Here in Washington, cities will face many law enforcement contracting-out questions in the future. For example, the City of Redmond also uses a private company to conduct parking enforcement. *Downtown Parking*, City of Redmond, at http://www.redmond.gov/cms/one.aspx?objectId=24851. And Imperial Parking, Bremerton's for-profit contractor, advertises that as "the largest operator of U.S. municipal parking systems" it can "provide[] municipalities with comprehensive patrol and enforcement capabilities" which will result in a "legitimate source of income." Impark, *Six Ways Municipalities Benefit From* 

Privatized Parking, https://www.impark.com/parking-insight/six-ways-municipalities-benefit-privatized-parking/ (last accessed March 20, 2019).

Washington's Attorney General has issued several opinions regarding the scope of a law enforcement agency's authority to contract out law enforcement functions in light of the issue's statewide significance. In 1965, before the Legislature authorized interlocal contracting (Chapter 39.34 RCW), the Attorney General considered whether a municipality could contract with a county sheriff for law enforcement. Wash. Att'y Gen. Op. 1965-66 NO. 28 The Attorney General decided, consistent with the Drivers' argument here, that a city cannot contract out its law enforcement in the absence of specific statutory authority (*Id.* at \*1-2):

May a county, and a city located therein, enter into a contract whereby the sheriff of the county will provide law enforcement services to the city...?

• • •

A review of the statutes of our state pertaining to counties and cities reveals no express statutory authority enabling them to contract with each other... Nor do we find any implied authority for such contracts under existing law. Accordingly, ...we must conclude that contract law enforcement as described in your question (above paraphrased) is not authorized.

In 1967, the Legislature enacted the Interlocal Cooperation Act, chapter 39.34 RCW, allowing local governments to contract with each

other.<sup>4</sup> Subsequently, the Attorney General revisited the issue and determined that the Act now authorized law enforcement agencies to contract with other public law enforcement agencies. Wash. Att'y Gen. Op. 1990 NO. 4 (noting that the "entity providing the services in question must have the authority to perform such services independent" of the contract).<sup>5</sup> The Legislature also addressed this issue of authority to outsource law enforcement in the parking context when it created a narrow exception whereby law enforcement agencies can authorize volunteers to enforce disability parking rules. RCW 46.19.050(10).

More recently, the Attorney General opined that cities cannot contract with a private entity for law enforcement functions in the context of a jail. Wash. Att'y Gen. Op. 2000 NO. 8 at \*7 (2000). These Attorney General opinions (and the statutes adopted in light of them) demonstrate that this is an important public issue of statewide significance.

The novel issue of whether a municipality may, by ordinance, contract out law enforcement functions, despite statutes and Attorney General opinions to the contrary, is an issue of broad public importance that should be decided by this Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As close in time, the 1965 AG opinion "may shed light on the intent of the legislature." *Five Corners Family Farmers v. State*, 173 Wn.2d 296, 308, 268 P.3d 892 (2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Legislature later specifically clarified law enforcement agencies' contracting authority under Chapter 39.34 RCW in RCW 10.93.130 which provides authority to contract only with other law enforcement agencies.

- C. Whether Individuals May Challenge in Superior Court Municipal Fines that Violate State Statutes Under the Washington Constitution Is an Issue of Broad Public Importance.
  - 1. The Washington Constitution Specifically Grants Superior Courts Original Jurisdiction to Hear Cases Involving the Legality of a Municipal Fine.

In addition to the issue of the City's ability to contract out law enforcement by ordinance, there is an important issue whether there can ever be judicial review of a municipal fine that violates state law.

Here, the Court of Appeals ruled that the class "does not have a cause of action because [their] refund claim[s] could only be brought through a motion to vacate in the limited jurisdiction [municipal] court." CoA Dec. at 8. The Court of Appeals acknowledged that the Constitution "provides superior courts with jurisdiction for challenges to the legality of municipal court fines," but found that the "exclusive remedy [to challenge the fines] was to file a CRLJ 60(b) motion" to vacate a judgment in municipal court. CoA Dec. at 8-9 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals has a fundamental misunderstanding of the Constitution's grant of jurisdiction. "Jurisdiction means the power to hear and determine" and "[a]uthority to rule." *State v. Barnes*, 146 Wn.2d 74, 85, 43 P.3d 490 (2002). It is the "[f]undamental power of our courts to act," *i.e.*, the power to grant relief. *ZDI Gaming, Inc. v. State*, 173 Wn.2d 608, 616-17, 268 P.3d 929 (2012). Here, the Constitution provided the superior courts

"the power to hear and determine" and the "authority to rule" over cases involving the legality of a municipal fine. Wash. Const. art. IV, §6; *Matter of 13811 Highway 99*, 194 Wn. App. 365, 371-72, 378 P.3d 568 (2016) (affirming jurisdiction of the superior court ('the power to act') to return property unlawfully taken in separate municipal court action).

The Constitution's grant of original jurisdiction to hear challenges is an important element of the superior court's authority. Indeed, "the Legislature cannot restrict enumerated powers of the superior court." *State v. Posey*, 174 Wn.2d 131, 136, 272 P.3d 840 (2012). "Under [art. IV §6], original jurisdiction for the causes of action listed and judicial action lies in superior court." *New Cingular Wireless v. City of Clyde Hill*, 185 Wn.2d 594, 600, 374 P.3d 151 (2016). "Superior courts have original jurisdiction in the categories of cases listed in the constitution which the legislature cannot take away." *ZDI Gaming*, 173 Wn.2d at 616-17. Because the superior court has original jurisdiction over the challenges to the legality to the City's fines, the plaintiffs could pursue all remedies available there.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The California Supreme Court, examining an identical constitutional grant of specific original jurisdiction to the superior court, held that "[t]he general purpose of that provision obviously is to give to the sovereign power of the state, whether exercised generally or locally, the protection of having the legality of any exaction of money for public uses or needs cognizable in the first instance in the superior courts alone." And thus it is "within the exclusive original jurisdiction of the superior court." *City of Madera v. Black*, 181 Cal. 306, 311, 184 P. 397 (1919).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The superior courts and this Court, under their general jurisdiction, routinely enforce state statutes that are being violated by a public agency without any specific statute

The municipal courts are statutory creations for the limited purpose of litigating municipal crimes and traffic infractions. *State v. Ulhoff*, 45 Wn. App 261, 263, 724 P.2d 1103 (1986); Const art. IV, §12. Municipal courts have jurisdiction to "determine whether [a] civil infraction was committed." RCW 7.80.100. Infraction proceedings are just "a "more expeditious system for handling minor traffic cases[.]" *Hadley v. Maxwell*, 144 Wn.2d 306, 312, 27 P.3d 600 (2001).<sup>8</sup> However, there is no mechanism in municipal court to challenge the validity of a municipal fine under state statutes; a litigant cannot file a counterclaim in municipal court and the municipal court has no jurisdiction over claims for declaratory or injunctive relief.<sup>9</sup>

This Court held in *Orwick v. Seattle*, 103 Wn.2d 244, 252, 692 P.2d 793 (1984), that even though the "factual basis for a claim is related to enforcement of a municipal ordinance," claims "for injunctive and declaratory relief [] based on [] rights under a state statute...do not 'arise

telling the courts to do so. See *Moore v. Health Care Auth.*, 181 Wn.2d 299, 332 P.3d 461 (2014); *Dolan v. King County*, 172 Wn.2d 299, 258 P.3d 20 (2011). This Court has issued a number of decisions on claims that state statutes preclude the legality of a tax, impost, assessment, toll, or municipal fine. See, e.g., *Dore v. Kinnear*, 79 Wn.2d 755, 766, 489 P.2d 898 (1971); *Covell v. Seattle*, 127 Wn.2d 874, 877, 891-92, 905 P.2d 324 (1995); *Okeson v. Seattle*, 150 Wn.2d 540, 546, 78 P.3d 1279 (2003); *Okeson v. Seattle*, 159 Wn.2d 436, 447, 150 P.3d 556 (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Tellingly, the Court of Appeals noted "specific procedures govern the contesting of traffic fines," *e.g.*, a driver contesting whether she parked too long, not that there are procedures and remedies to challenge the legality of a municipal fine. CoA Dec. at 8-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The Restatement recognizes that a "prosecution and a claim for remedy are regarded as separate causes of action that may be independently pursued." Restatement (Second) of Judgments, §85.

under' a municipal ordinance and, therefore, are not within the exclusive jurisdiction of the [m]unicipal [c]court." The Court ruled that the superior court had jurisdiction over the claims, and had authority to grant injunctive relief and damages. *Id* at 251-52, 257. Here, the Drivers allege specific statutory violations for (a) their state statutory claim that the City cannot contract out parking enforcement (see statutes cited *supra* at 2-3, 8-9) and for (b) their state statutory claim that the City cannot issue parking tickets based on unlawful blue no-parking signs. RCW 46.08.020 (any law enforcement not performed in accordance with Titles 46 and 47 RCW is "invalid and of no effect"). <sup>10</sup> Because the Drivers allege the City ordinances violate state statutes, the claims are not within the exclusive jurisdiction of the municipal court and can be pursued in superior court. *Orwick*, 103 Wn.2d at 252.

Thus, the Court of Appeals' decision that the Drivers cannot challenge unlawful fines in superior court (and are limited to fighting tickets in municipal court) is contrary to the Washington Constitution, which expressly provides a superior court "original jurisdiction" over cases involving the legality of a municipal fine, and to the *Posey, ZDI Gaming*, and

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