FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/22/2019 4:21 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 96983-3

Court of Appeals No. 50228-3-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GEORGE KARL, REBECCA ANN, and a class of similarly situated individuals,

Petitioners,

٧.

CITY OF BREMERTON,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth Masters, WSBA 22278 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 ken@appeal-law.com TEMPLETON HORTON WEIBEL & BROUGHTON, P.L.L.C.
David Horton, WSBA 27123
Kylie Purves, WSBA 34997
3212 NW Byron St., Ste. 101
Silverdale, WA 98383
(206) 692-9444
dhorton@kitsaplawgroup.com
kylie@kitsaplawgroup.com

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

Like LUPA, the APA, and the GMA, these statutes and court rules are for a specified purpose (adjudicating infractions) and specify a time limit for appeal (30 days). Under the reasoning in *New Cingular*, a "specified statutory process" for traffic infractions precludes Karl and Ann from "seeking declaratory judgment in superior court." *New Cingular*, 185 Wn.2d at 600. No conflict exists.

The appellate decision also does not conflict with **ZDI Gaming**. That case involved allocating subject matter jurisdiction

¹ For instance, under RCW 46.63.040, "Any municipal court has the authority to hear and determine traffic infractions pursuant to this chapter."

among our superior courts, not allocations between inferior and superior courts. This Court held that the state constitution provision vesting superior courts with original jurisdiction in all cases in which jurisdiction was not vested exclusively in some other court precluded any subject matter restrictions among the various superior courts. 173 Wn.2d at 616. But here, municipal courts are vested with exclusive original jurisdiction. No conflict exists.

Nor is this case analogous to *State v. Posey*, 174 Wn.2d 131, 133, 272 P.3d 840 (2012). There, 16-year-old Posey was charged with three counts of second-degree rape, and one count of first-degree assault while armed with a firearm. Because the first-degree assault charge was classified as a "[s]erious violent offense," the juvenile court automatically declined jurisdiction over Posey, transferring the case to the superior court. 174 Wn.2d at 133-34. The jury found Posey guilty of two counts of second-degree rape, but acquitted him of first-degree assault and of one count of second-degree rape. *Id.* at 134.

Posey appealed, claiming that the superior court did not have jurisdiction to sentence him as an adult after his acquittal on first-degree assault, the charge that led the juvenile court to automatically decline jurisdiction. *Id.* This Court affirmed the convictions, but

remanded the matter to juvenile court for further proceedings. *Id.* A few months later, and after Posey had turned 21, the superior court imposed a juvenile standard-range disposition of 60-to-80 weeks. *Id.* at 134-35.

Posey again appealed, arguing that *no* court had jurisdiction to sentence him. *Id.* at 135, 140. This Court held that where a statute prohibits the juvenile session from adjudicating the case, the superior court retains its constitutional jurisdiction over felony offenses *Id.* at 140. Because the superior court's jurisdiction derives from the constitution, and because the juvenile session lacked statutory authority to act in Posey's case, the superior court retained jurisdiction to sentence him for his crimes. *Id.* at 141.

The issue in **Posey** was not whether exclusive jurisdiction was vested in another court – juvenile session is a department of the superior court. Rather, the issue was whether the superior court retained jurisdiction, where the juvenile session otherwise lacked authority to act. But here, the municipal courts are vested with exclusive original jurisdiction over traffic infractions. This appellate decision does not conflict with **Posey**.

In sum, this appellate decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court. The Court should deny review.

B. This appellate decision is consistent with many other similar decisions.

The claims in this case are like other cases where our courts have denied relief. These cases follow a pattern. There is an allegation that a court or municipality failed to follow a state statute imposing a fine or fee. Rather than filing an appeal, or a motion to vacate, litigants instead file a separate class action suit, seeking to enjoin the court or the municipality from continuing the alleged statutory violation and to recoup the fines or fees as damages.

Boone v. City of Seattle is a recent case with very similar facts, involving a driver arguing that a traffic sign did not comply with state standards, and alleging that the City had improperly collected over \$10 million dollars through fines. 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 1575 (July 9, 2018) (non-binding, unpublished opinion: GR 14.1(a)). Boone sought declaratory relief and restitution of fines paid on behalf of a class of plaintiffs who had received tickets based on the traffic signs. The court held that Boone sought disgorgement of the penalty paid as part of his municipal court judgment, that such a claim may only be brought in municipal court, and that he failed to show any separate ground for relief in equity. Id. at *14. The same is true here.

A second example is *Doe v. Fife Mun. Court*, 74 Wn. App. 444, 874 P.2d 182 (1994), *rev. denied*, 125 Wn.2d 1025 (1995). There, people charged with alcohol-related criminal offenses brought an action against limited-jurisdiction courts for injunctive relief and refund of court costs paid as conditions of deferred prosecution, in violation of state law. The superior court concluded that the Does were barred from recovering the court costs in an independent suit against the limited courts. *Doe*, 74 Wn. App. at 448. On appeal, the Does contended that a motion to vacate provided "inadequate and ineffective relief for large numbers of people" and that "the district and municipal courts do not have jurisdiction to hear class action suits, award 'money-had-and received' damages or provide injunctive relief." *Id.* at 454.

These arguments are also made here, but **Doe** rejects them:

We see no barrier to a party obtaining effective relief, even in the absence of a class action suit. The mere fact that the Does might be unable to maintain a class action suit does not preclude their ability to recover the overpaid costs. Indeed, the procedure each of the Does would have to follow to obtain relief is quite simple. We are also not persuaded by the Does' argument that the district and municipal courts will be overwhelmed with litigants.

Id. at 454-55. This Court denied review. 125 Wn.2d 1025.

Similarly, in *Jordan v. City of Lynnwood*, the court also dismissed all claims. No. C17-0309 RAJ, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9877 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 22, 2018). There, a driver filed a class action seeking restitution of fines for red light infractions, an order enjoining Lynnwood from operating a traffic-camera program, and a declaratory judgment that its traffic-camera system was contrary to state statutes. *Id.* at *7-8. Citing **Doe**, **Jordan** noted that municipal courts adjudicate challenges to traffic infractions, after which plaintiffs can "either appeal the adjudication to the Superior Court . . . or file a motion to vacate their judgments in the Municipal Court pursuant to IRLJ 6.7(a)." Id. at *4. A collateral action seeking trafficfine refunds amounts to a "de facto appeal of the adjudication of [] traffic camera tickets," implicating the judgment of another court; that a declaratory judgment about the legality of the City's traffic safety cameras cannot invalidate a municipal court judgment; and, therefore, that a decision would not redress the alleged injury caused by receiving a traffic infraction. *Id.* at *8,*10.

Again, *Mainer v. City of Spokane* involved people seeking refunds for fines they paid for red-light infractions. 2015 Wash. App. LEXIS 2931 (Dec. 1, 2015) (non-binding, unpublished opinion: GR 14.1(a)). The trial court granted the city's motion to dismiss, and the

Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal for lack of jurisdiction. *Id.* at *2. This Court denied review. 185 Wn.2d 1030 (2016).

It should also deny review here. This appellate decision is consistent with other decisions. Further review is unwarranted.

C. There is no significant question under the Washington State Constitution because municipal courts have exclusive original jurisdiction over the imposition of fines for municipal traffic infractions.

Karl and Ann argue that WASH. CONST. art IV, § 6 grants superior courts original jurisdiction to hear municipal-fine challenges.

PFR 11. The appellate court agreed with this, but noted (Slip Op. 8):

this grant of jurisdiction does not provide an independent cause of action to challenge such legality. It simply provides superior courts original jurisdiction "over all claims which are not within the exclusive jurisdiction of another court." *Orwick v. City of Seattle*, 103 Wn.2d 249, 251, 692 P.2d 793 (1984).

WASH. CONST. art. IV, §§ 1 & 12 delegate limited authority to the Legislature to transfer judicial power from one constitutional court (superior or district courts) to another constitutional court (inferior courts) by defining the jurisdiction and powers of inferior courts to which the Legislature deems it wise to transfer judicial power. *In re Cloherty*, 2 Wash. 137, 139, 27 P. 1064 (1891). The Court Improvement Act of 1984 effectuated this constitutional delegation and standardized municipal courts. The Act stated that municipal

courts were WASH. CONST. art. IV, § 12 inferior courts and established the jurisdiction of municipal courts.

RCW 3.50.020 grants municipal courts exclusive original jurisdiction over traffic infractions arising under city ordinances, and empowers them to hear and determine <u>all</u> civil causes of action arising under such ordinances (emphases added):

The municipal court shall have exclusive original jurisdiction over traffic infractions arising under city ordinances and exclusive original criminal jurisdiction of all violations of city ordinances duly adopted by the city and shall have original jurisdiction of all other actions brought to enforce or recover license penalties or forfeitures declared or given by such ordinances or by state statutes. A hosting jurisdiction shall have exclusive original criminal and other jurisdiction as described in this section for all matters filed by a contracting city. The municipal court shall also have the jurisdiction as conferred by statute. The municipal court is empowered to forfeit cash bail or bail bonds and issue execution thereon; and in general to hear and determine all causes, civil or criminal, including traffic infractions, arising under such ordinances and to pronounce judgment in accordance therewith.

The fines challenged in this case were imposed in municipal court judgments. WASH. CONST. art. IV, § 6 states that superior courts have "appellate jurisdiction in cases arising in . . . inferior courts in their respective counties as may be prescribed by law." This appellate decision does not conflict with the Washington State Constitution. Again, review is unwarranted.

D. There is no issue of substantial public interest in superior courts hearing legal challenges to traffic infractions because municipal courts provide a forum for all challenges to municipal traffic citations and municipal courts are not limited to deciding only factual issues.

Karl and Ann argue that, "[u]nder Court of Appeals' decision, any city can issue unlawful tickets but no one can ever bring an action in superior court to have the fines declared unlawful, enjoin the fines, or obtain relief for those who are unlawfully fined." PFR 14. There is no need or basis for superior courts to "enjoin", or "declare[] unlawful," fines imposed by municipal courts. Whatever illegality is alleged as the basis for declaratory or junctive relief in superior court, whether it is nonconforming signs, authority of the person issuing the citation, or any other legal issue, it can be addressed to the municipal court, where illegal fines may be avoided.

Karl and Ann argue that municipal court jurisdiction is limited to factual issues (to "determine whether [a] civil infraction was committed") and that "no mechanism [exists] in municipal court to challenge the validity of a municipal fine under state statutes." PFR 12. Not so.

Municipal courts have "exclusive original jurisdiction over traffic infractions" under RCW 3.50.020, and may hear legal challenges to state laws enforced under municipal ordinances. For

instance, several RCW Title 46 traffic citations were challenged in Bremerton Municipal Court and Kitsap District Court on grounds that the state statute under which the driver was cited was unconstitutionally vague. *Spears v. City of Bremerton*,134 Wn.2d 141, 949 P.2d 347 (1998). The cases proceeded to Kitsap County Superior Court, and then to this Court, which ruled the statute was not unconstitutionally vague. *Id.* at 162.

Karl and Ann argue that "[j]udicial review of municipal fines is of great importance because there are nearly 800,000 traffic infraction cases each year," and "[j]udicial review of municipal fines is of further importance because monetary sanctions disparately affect poor populations." PFR 14-15. Under the IRLJ, municipal courts provide judicial review prior to imposing municipal fines. Under the RALJ, judgments for fines can be appealed to superior court. There is no issue of substantial public interest in superior courts hearing legal challenges to municipal traffic infractions because such legal challenges can be made in the municipal courts themselves.

E. No substantial public interest exists in who enforces Bremerton's parking ordinances.

Parking enforcement is a uniquely local matter. An ordinance must yield to state law only "if a conflict exists such that the two cannot be harmonized." *Brown v. City of Yakima*, 116 Wn.2d 556, 561, 807 P.2d 353 (1991); *accord City of Bellingham v. Schampera*, 57 Wn.2d 106, 110-11, 356 P.2d 292 (1960). But here, there is no conflict and no substantial public interest.

Our Constitution gives municipalities authority to enforce their ordinances. Article XI, § 11 provides that "[a]ny county, city, town or township may make and enforce within its limits all such local police, sanitary and other regulations as are not in conflict with general laws." Indeed.

Municipal police power is as extensive as that of the legislature, so long as the subject matter is local and the regulation does not conflict with general laws The scope of police power is broad, encompassing all those measures which bear a reasonable and substantial relation to promotion of the general welfare of the people.

Covell v. City of Seattle, 127 Wn.2d 874, 878, 905 P.2d 324 (1995).

Here, RCW Title 46 is the relevant statute. It does not say that a city cannot contract for parking enforcement. The subsection applicable to parking, RCW 46.63.030(3), does not even use the phrase "law enforcement officer." Rather, it states:

If any motor vehicle without a driver is found parked, standing, or stopped in violation of this title or an equivalent administrative regulation or local law, ordinance, regulation, or resolution, the officer finding the vehicle shall take its registration number and may take any other information displayed on the vehicle which may identify its user, and shall conspicuously affix to the vehicle a notice of traffic infraction.

Moreover, Bremerton Municipal Code ("BMC") 10.10.080(a) allows the City's parking regulations to be enforced by (1) the City's police officers and other law enforcement officers; and/or (2) the City's parking enforcement officers. Under BMC 10.10.080(d), the "City's Police Department is authorized to appoint parking enforcement officers with a limited commission to issue notices of infractions for violations of the City's parking regulations."

Bremerton's municipal code is in accord with RCW Title 46, RCW Ch. 7.80, and the IRLJ. "Enforcement officer" is defined in RCW 7.80.040 as "a person authorized to enforce the provisions of the . . . ordinance in which the civil infraction is established." Under IRLJ 2.2(b)(1), a "citing officer" may initiate an infraction. A "citing officer" is "a law enforcement officer or other official authorized by law to issue a notice of infraction." IRLJ 1.2(j). Contracting for parking enforcement is a local matter that does not conflict with state law. It is not a matter of substantial public interest warranting review.

IV. CONCLUSION

Karl and Ann raise no conflicts, but rather raise similar issues to those previously addressed in appellate decisions and rejected. Review should be denied.